FILED 8/9/2017 4:30 PM Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

Supreme Court No.:	<u>-</u>		
Court of Appeals No.: 33328-1-III			
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON			
STATE OF WASHINGTON,			
Respondent,			
v.			
JOHN MUNZANREDER,			
Petitioner.			
PETITION FOR REVIEW			
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR YAKIMA COUNTY			

Marla L. Zink Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND THE DECISION BELOW

John Munzanreder, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) of the partially published decision of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Munzanreder*, No. 33328-1-III, filed June 1, 2017. In the published portion of the opinion, the Court of Appeals recognized that "local media extensively covered [Munzanreder's] case from arrest through trial," yet affirmed the trial court's denial of Munzanreder's motion to change venue. In evaluating the state constitutional claim, the court declined to consider article I, section 21's "inviolate" right to 12-person jury trials even though this Court has consistently interpreted together sections 21 and 22 in regard to a criminal defendant's right to jury trial.

Munzanreder's motion to reconsider was denied on July 11, 2017.

A copy of the opinion is attached as Appendix A; a copy of the order denying the motion to reconsider is attached as Appendix B.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether article I, sections 21 and 22 more broadly protect an accused person's right to a fair trial by an impartial jury than the federal constitution and whether this Court should accept review where the

published Court of Appeals opinion holds article I, section 21 is not even relevant, let alone more protective? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

- 2. Whether the Court should grant review of the published opinion affirming denial of Munzanreder's motion to change venue where the trial court required Munzanreder to be tried in a county where over 80 percent of jurors had been exposed to continuous, inflammatory pretrial publicity that included information about the case not presented at trial, where three jurors who actually sat on Munzanreder's jury, and many more who did not, admitted to having already formed opinions on guilt, where the government was involved in the dissemination of some of the information, where the charge was among the most serious in the state, and where jurors spent only four hours deliberating? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), (4).
- 3. Whether the Court should grant review of the published opinion affirming the process employed to select the jury in this context of salacious, extensive pretrial publicity and a saturated jury pool which led to the seating of a jury with three individuals who admitted to preformed opinions on guilt, one of whom Munzanreder unsuccessfully challenged for cause and the remaining two who at best narrowly passed the lenient and ineffectual rehabilitation standards employed? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), (4).

4. Whether this Court should review the to-convict instructions for first degree murder and the lesser included offense of second degree murder where the instructions are inconsistent on an element that should be identical between them, creating ambiguity and confusion that misled the jury on a material element? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Cynthia Munzanreder died from a single shot to the head as she returned to her vehicle outside the Union Gap movie theater after seeing a movie with her husband John.¹ The town of Union Gap, population six thousand, had its third homicide in 15 years; the local media quickly reported the unsolved homicide, and readers began voraciously commenting online.²

At the scene where he was sobbing, and later at the police station where he was held for the night, John Munzanreder told police he did not know who shot his wife. He heard a shot, saw a subject in a dark sweatshirt run through the bushes, chased after him, fell, returned to the

 $^{^{1}}$ 1/20/15 RP 13-17, 1319, 1322-23, 1328, 1336. A second bullet entered and exited her left hip without much damage. 1/20/15 RP 1339.

² Vol. V RP 426, 431; *see generally* Ex. F (Venue-publicity, March 2013 A, pp.1-8 & B, pp.1-25, 27-28, 32-34). Citations are to the pages of the entire pdf files at Exhibit F, and not to other page numbers listed on various pages of the exhibit.

passenger side of his truck, and found his wife on the ground.³

Munzanreder had no weapons on him and a small abrasion under his left eye, which developed into a much-publicized black eye; he cooperated with police.⁴ Nothing was located in a search of the Munzanreders' vehicle. 1/22/15 RP 1639-40.

Near the scene, police located two men in black, hooded sweatshirts, matching Munzanreder's description.⁵ There were not many other people around that night. 1/20/15 RP 1382. The neighboring stores did not have surveillance video. 1/20/15 RP 1376.

The police began interviewing other people who worked at the Valley Ford car dealership with Munzanreder, and eventually arrested Juan Ibanez for possession of a firearm.⁶ Ibanez then told police Munzanreder had promised him \$20,000 if Ibanez helped kill his wife.⁷ He told police he had purchased the murder weapon and returned it to the dealership, in an area where he worked; the police found a gun there.⁸

³ E.g., 1/20/15 RP 1364-65, 1385-88; 1/21/15 RP 1546-47, 1552-54, 1626, 1631-32; 1/22/15 RP 1799-1800; 1/29/15 RP 2571, 2574-80, 2650.

⁴ 1/20/15 RP 1366-6, 1377, 1392-94; 1/21/15 RP 1611, 1613-14; 1/22/15 RP 1799-1800; 1/29/15 RP 2577-78; 2/2/15 RP 2727-28; Exs. F, 41, 50.

⁵ Ex. 117; 1/20/15 RP 1374-75; 1/21/15 RP 1601-02, 1624-25; 1/22/15 RP 1795-97; 1/30/15 RP 2648-49, 2774-78.

⁶ 1/21/15 RP 1564-67, 1573-74, 1576-77, 1580-82; 1/22/15 RP 1644.

 $^{^{7}}$ 1/23/15 RP 1835-36, 1841-43; *see* 1/23/15 RP 1929-33 (Ibanez admits to telling many lies to law enforcement).

⁸ 1/21/15 RP 1605; see 1/23/15 RP 1845-53.

Munzanreder was then arrested and both were charged with first degree murder.⁹

The press covered Munzanreder's arrest in depth and sensationally. ¹⁰ For example, the top-of-the-fold headline in the print edition of the Yakima Herald read, "Cops: husband did it" above a large photo of Munzanreder with a black eye, in jail clothes, and with his hands behind his back, presumably in handcuffs. Ex. F (Venue-publicity, Venue in the news, p.5); Ex. G.

Munzanreder moved pretrial for a change in venue. CP 9-17. The court determined it would consider the motion after jury selection. Vol. III RP 226-30; 1/6/15 RP 546. The press covered this as well.¹¹

Ibanez and the State then entered into a plea agreement, which included Ibanez's commitment to testify against Munzanreder. Vol. XII RP 1119-23. These developments were also covered by the media. 12

⁹ 1/21/15 RP 1575; 1/6/15 RP 512-13, 522, 526.

¹⁰ *E.g.*, Ex. F (Venue-publicity, Ibanez plea, p.6); Ex. F (Venue-publicity, March 2013 A, pp.9, 14 ("Upon interviews with those who knew John and Cynthia Munzanreder, it was made clear John was openly having an affair 'for more than a couple months.""), 29); Ex. F (Venue-publicity, March 2013 B, pp.42, 50); 1/23/15 RP 1962-77, 1981-83 (Davis's testimony that she did not know Cynthia and Mr. Munzanreder never promised he and Davis would have a future together and she did not ask him to promise a future for them together).

 $^{^{11}}$ 5/22/14 RP 144-45 (ABC News); Ex. F. (Venue-Publicity, Venue in the news).

¹² Ex. F (3.5 public comment); Ex. F (Venue-publicity, Ibanez plea) (pp.1-45). Counsel for Munzanreder was even contacted by Good Morning America. 5/22/14 RP 144-46, 163-64.

Mere days before jury selection, Yakima's CBS affiliate, KIMA TV, broadcast a provocative story about the upcoming trial on television and online. The video shows in-life pictures of Cynthia Munzanreder, reports that the Union Gap police were "not buying" John Munzanreder's "story," falsely states that Munzanreder has access to guns, and mischaracterizes the burden at a Criminal Rule 3.5 hearing (stating Munzanreder challenged admissibility). While reporting that Munzanreder "through it all maintains his innocence," the video shows him smiling, perhaps laughing, towards his attorney. Ex. F (KIMA video at 01:30-37).

Over 82 percent of jurors responded in the juror questionnaire that they knew of the case from pretrial publicity and/or from hearing about it from friends, colleagues, or family; a quarter of them admitted they had formed an opinion based on what they heard, with almost all reporting their opinion was that Munzanreder was guilty of murder. CP 199-1481 (completed questionnaires). In addition, many venire members reported knowing people involved in the case. *Id*.

¹³ 1/6/15 RP 609-17; Ex. F (KIMA video). The story and video remain available on KIMA's website, http://kimatv.com/news/local/pre-trial-motions-begin-for-man-accused-of-killing-wife-in-union-gap (last visited Mar. 13, 2016).

¹⁴ 1/6/15 RP 612-13; Ex. F (KIMA video); *see* 1/16/15 RP 1289-90, 1292 (Munzanreder did not have guns).

¹⁵ Two jurors did not complete the questions about publicity. CP 669, 779 (questionnaires for jurors 207 & 227). Juror 207 revealed in voir dire that

The publicity infected not only the pool of jurors, but also the jury that decided the case: three of the impaneled jurors had formed the opinion that Munzanreder was guilty. ¹⁶

The trial court denied the motion to change venue after voir dire concluded. 1/15/15 RP 1097-1106; 1/16/15 RP 1231-32. Following about four hours of deliberation, the jury convicted Munzanreder of first-degree murder against a member of the same family or household while armed with a firearm. CP 122-25 (verdict forms); *see* CP 1510 (trial minutes p.15). He is serving a 340 month-term in prison. CP 131-38. Additional facts are set forth in the opening brief filed in the Court of Appeals and in the relevant argument sections below.

D. ARGUMENT

1. The Court should grant review and hold that article I, sections 21 and 22 more broadly protect the right to a fair trial by an impartial jury for purposes of motions to change venue and the selection of jurors.

Munzanreder set forth a full state constitutional analysis in his briefing to the Court of Appeals, arguing article I, sections 21 and 22 more broadly protect the right to a fair trial by an impartial jury. Op. Br. at 55-

she had read about the case in the Yakima Herald. 1/15/15 RP 1083-88. Juror 227's exposure to pretrial publicity is not in the record, and is therefore not included in the statistics.

¹⁶ CP 970, 1200, 1250 (questionnaires for jurors 19, 51 & 59 at page 9); 1/13/15 RP 802-03 (juror 19); 1/15/15 RP 781-84 (juror 51); 1/13/15 RP 769-71 (juror 59); 1/16/15 RP 1222-23 (jurors 19, 51, 59 impaneled).

61. As the Court of Appeals recognized, the "State, somewhat unhelpfully, d[id] not provide its own *Gunwall* analysis." Slip Op. at 9 (referring to *State v. Gunwall*, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986)). In its published opinion, the Court of Appeals held article I, section 21 should not be considered at all and relied on a footnote from a Court of Appeals opinion to deny the state constitutional claim. Slip Op. at 10, 11 (citing *State v. Rivera*, 108 Wn. App. 645, 648 n.2, 32 P.3d 292 (2001)). This Court should grant review.

First, the Court of Appeals does not explain why article I, section 21's edict that the "right to a trial by [a 12-person] jury shall remain inviolate" does not inform Munzanreder's right to an impartial jury together with article I, section 22. In fact, the Court itself cites to section 21 (and not to section 22) in the next section of its opinion when analyzing the sufficiency of the voir dire process. Slip Op. at 12 (citing Const. art. I, § 21).

This Court has consistently indicated that Article I, section 21 informs a criminal defendant's right to an impartial 12-person jury. *State ex rel. Dep't of Ecology v. Anderson*, 94 Wn.2d 727, 728, 620 P.2d 76 (1980) (section 21 "includes the right to jury trial in criminal cases"). The Court relied upon section 21 to hold that those accused of any crime in Washington are entitled to a jury trial. *City of Pasco v. Mace*, 98 Wn.2d

87, 99, 653 P.2d 618 (1982). "From the earliest history of this state, the right of trial by jury has been treasured, and this right has been protected even in courts of limited jurisdiction." *Id.* The Court continued, "It is our conclusion that, under the concept embodied in the constitution of Washington, enacted as it was in light of the laws of the territory existing at that time, no offense can be deemed so petty as to warrant denying a jury if it constitutes a crime." *Id.*

This Court regularly applies article I, section 21 to interpret and support a defendant's right to an impartial jury and typically considers sections 21 and 22 together. *E.g.*, *State v. Williams-Walker*, 167 Wn.2d 889, 225 P.3d 913 (2010) (analyzing sections 21 and 22 together to determine jury trial right); *State v. Recuenco*, 163 Wn.2d 428, 443-44 & n.4, 180 P.3d 1276 (2008) (reading constitutional provisions together); *State v. Chavez*, 163 Wn.2d 262, 267, 180 P.3d 1250 (2008) (same); *State v. Lamar*, 180 Wn.2d 576, 583, 327 P.3d 46 (2014) (citing §§ 21 and 22 for right to a unanimous verdict rendered by an impartial jury); *State v. Hager*, 171 Wn.2d 151, 158-59, 248 P.3d 512 (2011) (citing §§ 21 and 22 for a defendant's constitutional jury trial guarantee); *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 580-83, 940 P.2d 546 (1997) (analyzing both provisions in conducting *Gunwall* analysis of the state constitutional right to jury trials as applied to jury selection in a capital case); *State v. Smith*, 150 Wn.2d

135, 150-56, 75 P.3d 934 (2003) (analyzing both provisions in conducting a *Gunwall* analysis to determine a criminal defendant's right to a jury determination of his or her persistent offender status); *see Sofie v*. *Fibreboard Corp.*, 112 Wn.2d 636, 645, 771 P.2d 711 (1989) (art. I, § 21 preserves the scope of the right to a jury trial as it existed at the time the constitution was adopted). The Court of Appeals' refusal to consider section 21 is illogical, unexplained, and contradicts the authority from this Court.

Second, a *Gunwall* analysis shows the state constitution more broadly protects an accused person's rights to a fair trial by an impartial jury. *See Recuenco*, 163 Wn.2d at 443-44 & n.4 (Washington's two jury trial provisions render the jury trial right "more extensive than that which was protected by the federal constitution").

Under the first and second *Gunwall* factors, there are significant differences in the language of the pertinent provisions of the state and federal constitutions. *City of Pasco*, 98 Wn.2d at 97; *compare* Const. art. I, §§ 21 (right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate), 22 ("[i]n criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right . . . to . . . trial by an impartial jury") *with* U.S. Const. amend. VI. Article I, section 21's "inviolate" jury trial guarantee emphasizes the importance of the right and is without federal counterpart. *Brown*, 132 Wn.2d at 595.

Our state constitutional history confirms the intentionally broad scope of Washington's right to an impartial jury. One drafter "devoted more commentary to his proposed [jury trial] provision than to any other right contained in his proposed bill of rights." Robert F. Utter & Hugh D. Spitzer, The Washington State Constitution 46 (2d ed. 2013). Although impartiality was always a core guarantee, section 22 did not contain explicit language until the constitution was amended in 1922. Laws of 1921, p.79, § 1. Nevertheless, Washington has "always insisted that a guarantee of a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury under Const. art. 1, s 22, both before and after its change by the Tenth Amendment, means a fair trial." *State v. Stiltner*, 80 Wn.2d 47, 53, 491 P.2d 1043 (1971).

Preexisting state law further shows the breadth of our state constitutional right. Our State has long protected the right to for-cause and peremptory challenges. Hill's General Statutes 1891, §§ 340-52 (providing for peremptory and for-cause challenges based on implied and actual bias). The right to a jury trial on the determination of guilt was also protected by the Code of 1881. *E.g.*, *Williams-Walker*, 167 Wn.2d at 914 (Fairhurst, J. dissenting); *Smith*, 150 Wn.2d at 153-55. Cases from the time the constitution was adopted confirm the right to a fair trial by an impartial jury was copiously protected. *State v. Coella*, 3 Wash. 99, 28 P.

28 (1891) (hasty examination of juror who was employed by accused person and had heard of case from the media was insufficient and "his testimony is very unsatisfactory to show his ability to give the defendant a fair and impartial trial"); *State v. Wilcox*, 11 Wash. 215, 39 P. 368 (1895) (reversing where trial court failed to exclude juror for actual bias; the charge of murder in the first degree for an offense that caused public outrage provided "the strongest reason for according him a trial by an impartial and unprejudiced jury, totally uninfluenced by public sentiment, a jury every member of which could without question pass upon his guilt or innocence solely and exclusively from the testimony presented at the trial."). In sum, "the right of trial by jury has been treasured, and this right has been protected" from the "earliest history of this state." *City of Pasco*, 98 Wn.2d at 99.

The fifth *Gunwall* factor—the structural distinctions between the two constitutions—generally compels a broader interpretation of our State's constitution. *E.g.*, *Gunwall*, 106 Wn.2d at 66-67.

Finally, under the sixth factor the means of ensuring the right to an impartial jury in criminal cases is a matter of particular state or local concern. *Taylor v. Louisiana*, 419 U.S. 522, 538, 95 S. Ct. 692, 42 L. Ed. 2d 690 (1975) ("The States remain free to prescribe relevant qualifications for their jurors and to provide reasonable exemptions so long as it may be

fairly said that the jury lists or panels are representative of the community."); *see Smith*, 150 Wn.2d at 152 (holding that providing jury trials for adults is matter of local concern).

2. The Court should grant review and hold that Munzanreder's trial should have been held in a different venue due to the extensive local media coverage of this sensational crime and the level of saturation of the jury pool.

The Court should grant review to determine whether Munzanreder showed a probability of unfairness, partiality or prejudice, which necessitates a change in venue. *State v. Rupe*, 108 Wn.2d 734, 743 P.2d 210 (1987); *State v. Crudup*, 11 Wn. App. 583, 586-87, 524 P.2d 479 (1974) (moving party need not show actual prejudice to justify change of venue).

Munzanreder was denied his right to a fair trial by an impartial jury because over 80 percent of jurors had been exposed to the persistent and provocative pretrial publicity, which portrayed Munzanreder negatively and ascribed him guilt.¹⁷ The Court of Appeals recognizes "there was substantial and meaningful adverse pretrial publicity soon after the shooting." Slip Op. at 22. "The local paper and television stations ran stories that all but declared Munzanreder guilty." Slip Op. at 22; *see*, *e.g.*,

¹⁷ See Op. Br. at 22-45 for a complete analysis of the factors governing this Court's review of the change in venue motion.

Ex. F (Venue-publicity, Venue in the news, p.5) (above-the-fold headline "Cops: husband did it" above a large photo of Munzanreder with a "a very dark black eye," in jail clothes, and with his hands behind his back, presumably in handcuffs.); Ex. F (KIMA video at 00:57-01:22) (manipulated footage (combining images from one context with audio from another), describing Munzanreder's "crocodile tears" the night of the shooting, and showing Munzanreder smiling with his attorney in court while "reporting" he "through it all maintains his innocence"). In fact, "The Munzanreder story was one of Yakima County's most significant news stories of 2013." Slip Op. at 22.

As the Court of Appeals also recognizes, "Several people used the media's Facebook page to make comments showing their disdain for Munzanreder. The comments reflected an attitude that Munzanreder was guilty, wondered why the public had to provide him an attorney, and called for severe punishment." Slip Op. at 22; *see*, *e.g.*, Ex. F (Venue-publicity, Ibanez plea, p.42 ("The guy who took the plea deal . . . was being black mailed by the killer (his boss at work) in order to get him the hide the gun.")); *id.*, p.43 ("the husband better get more time than that"); *id.* ("I know [Juan Ibanez]. . . . He was beat up and threatened by his boss."); Ex. F (Venue-publicity, Venue in the news, p.3 ("he killed")

someone and now he wants something to be 'fair'?? lol"); *id*. ("Try him and fry him. Next.").

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