FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/22/2017 4:32 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 94882-8

THE SUPREME COURT OF OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

JOHN J. MUNZANREDER, Appellant/Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY YAKIMA COUNTY

David B. Trefry WSBA #16050 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney P.O. Box 4846 Spokane, WA 99220

JOSEPH A. BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2nd St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

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

ARGUMENT

1. The Court of Appeals ruled that our state constitutional right to an impartial jury should be interpreted as providing the same degree of protection as the parallel federal constitutional...(and) that article I, section 22's right to an impartial jury does not provide any more protection than the Sixth Amendment. This opinion does not merit further review by this court.

"Munzanreder extensively argues that jurors are unable to recognize their own bias. That may be so. But here, not even Munzanreder recognized any bias. Based on the record, there is no support for Munzanreder's argument that venire juror 19 was biased." (Slip at 16)

As this court is more than aware this type of petition is governed by RAP 13.4(b), which sets forth the standard an appellant must meet before their case will be accepted by this court for review. Munzanreder claims the Court of Appeals opinion merits review under sections (b) (1), (3) and (4). The court of appeals opinion does not meet any of the criterion set forth in RAP 13.4(b) The Court of Appeals opinion does not

<u>1</u>) Conflict with any decision by this court; <u>2</u>) The opinion does not conflict with any opinion of the other two divisions of the Court of Appeals (<u>3</u>) the opinion does not address issues that are significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the Constitution of United States and <u>4</u>) The issues raised in this petition for review do not involve any issues of substantial public interest that this court should address.

This court of appeals based its ruling on well-founded law which is not in conflict with any case from this court or other courts of appeal in this state. Clearly the opinion of the Court of Appeals address significant questions of law and of substantial interest to Munzanreder but that does it does not meet the criterion that the issues addressed in the opinion are significant questions of law under either constitution or are of substantial public interest.

Munzanreder yet again addresses the <u>Gunwall</u> factors in this petition. This repetition does not make that argument valid. Munzanreder complains that the court did not explain why is was not devoting time to article 1, section 21 as demanded over and over by Munzanreder. The court did explain stating:

Munzanreder's discussion of this factor, similar to

5

¹ State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 61-62, 720 P.2d 808 (1986).

his discussion of most of the other factors, focuses on article I, section 21 instead of article I, section 22. <u>To the extent he repeatedly conflates the two constitutional provisions, we disagree with his analysis.</u> In nearly 100 years, our state has yet to recognize any state or local concern with respect to a defendant's right to an impartial jury that would justify interpreting article I, section 22 differently than how federal courts have interpreted the Sixth Amendment. See <u>Fire</u>, 145 Wn.2d at 163. (Slip at 11) (Emphasis added.)

The Court of Appeals fully and completely addressed the Gunwall

factors:

Factors 1, 2, and 5... Article I, section 22 provides in relevant part: "In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to ... trial by an impartial jury " The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides: "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to ... trial, by an impartial jury " The relevant language is almost identical in text and structure. (Slip at 10)

. . .

Factor 3: State constitutional history: Article I, section 22 was taken from the federal constitution. <u>Rivera</u>, 108 Wn. App. at 648 n.2.

. . .

Factor 4: Preexisting state law: Munzanreder notes that Washington common law had always insisted that a jury be impartial. See State v. Stiltner, 80 Wn.2d 4 7, 491 P .2d 1043 (1971). This observation does not convince us of any difference between the relevant language in the state and federal constitutional provisions-both explicitly emphasize the importance of an impartial jury.

. . .

Factor 6: Particular state or local concern: Munzanreder's discussion of this factor, similar to his discussion of most of the other factors, focuses on article I, section 21 instead of article I, section 22. To the extent he repeatedly conflates the two constitutional provisions, we disagree with his analysis. In nearly 100 years, our state has yet to recognize any state or local concern with respect to a defendant's right to an impartial jury that would justify interpreting article I, section 22 differently than how federal courts have interpreted the Sixth Amendment. See Fire, 145 Wn.2d at 163. (Slip at 11)

The Court of Appeals concludes this section of its opinion by stating

An analysis of the *Gunwall* factors convinces us that our state constitutional right to an impartial jury should be interpreted as providing the same degree of protection as the parallel federal constitutional right. We agree with *Rivera*. We similarly hold that article I, section 22's right to an impartial jury does not provide any more protection than the Sixth Amendment. (Slip at 11-12)

. . .

As further explained below, we disagree with [Munzanreder's] argument, with his assertion that there were four biased jurors empaneled, and with his blaming the voir dire process for venire juror 51 being empaneled. (Slip at 12)

. . .

Munzanreder argues "[t]he process employed for removing biased jurors violated [his] state and federal due process rights to a fair trial by an impartial jury." Appellant's Opening Br. at 1. Munzanreder neither suggests that the trial court used a process that violated due process nor does he point to a process he requested that the trial court denied. (Slip at 13)

. . .

Munzanreder simply asserts now that the process was insufficient, although he was heavily involved at trial in developing the process used. Because Munzanreder does not show an abuse of discretion, his appeal on this issue fails.

. . .

Here, Munzanreder used one challenge to remove venire juror 49, but elected not use any of his several other peremptory challenges to remove venire juror 51. He also elected not to request additional peremptory challenges. If the trial court erred in denying Munzanreder's for cause challenge of venire juror 51, because Munzanreder elected not to remove

venire juror 51 with his allotted peremptory challenges or by requesting additional challenges, Munzanreder waived that error. *Dean v. Grp. Health Coop. of Puget Sound*, 62 Wn. App. 829, 836,816 P.2d 757 (1991). (Slip at 19-20) Footnotes omitted.

Munzanreder seems to believe that if a court of review does not analyze a case in the manner that he believes it should or does not use all of the avenues possible to address an issue then that in and of itself is an error that would allow this court to grant review.

The Court of Appeals is not, has not, opined that this defendant or for that matter any defendant does not have the right of trial by jury (which) shall remain inviolate. What the court is has written is that in this case the analysis need only look to article 1, section 22 to determine that the process was "impartial" impartiality being the true issue before the court.

This court in cases a significant as <u>State v. Brett</u>, 126 Wn.2d 136, 892 P.2d 29 (1995), a case cited in nearly two-hundred and fifty cases in this state alone, has analyzed the right to a fair and impartial jury without citing to article 1, section 21, the "error" that Munzanreder claims as his basis for this court to review the opinion written by the court of appeals. An opinion which was issued by the court then reviewed by the court when reconsideration was requested. As stated in <u>Brett</u>, 126 Wn.2d 157-8:

Under the Sixth Amendment and Const. art. 1, § 22, a defendant is guaranteed the right to a fair and impartial jury. State v. Rupe, 108 Wn.2d 734, 748, 743 P.2d 210 (1987), cert. denied, 486 U.S. 1061, 108 S.Ct. 2834, 100 L.Ed.2d 934 (1988). To ensure this right, a juror may be excused for cause if his views would "' "prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath." ' " State v. Hughes, 106 Wn.2d 176, 181, 721 P.2d 902 (1986) (quoting Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 424, 105 S.Ct. 844, 852, 83 L.Ed.2d 841 (1985)). See RCW 4.44.170(2). A juror with preconceived ideas need not be disqualified if that juror can set those ideas aside and "decide the case on the basis of the evidence given at the trial and the law as given him by the court." Rupe, 108 Wash.2d at 748, 743 P.2d 210 (quoting *Mak*, 105 Wash.2d at 707, 718 P.2d 407). "Equivocal answers alone" are not cause for dismissal. Rupe, 108 Wn.2d at 749, 743 P.2d 210. The trial judge is in the best position upon observation of the juror's demeanor to evaluate the responses and determine if the juror would be impartial. Rupe, 108 Wn.2d at 749, 743 P.2d 210.

See also, <u>In re Personal Restraint of Yates</u>, 177 Wn.2d 1, 30, 296 P.3d 872 (2013) "A defendant is guaranteed a fair trial before an impartial jury by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments. *Ross v. Oklahoma*, 487 U.S. 81, 85, 108 S.Ct. 2273, 101 L.Ed.2d 80 (1988)."; <u>State v. Lawler</u>, 194 Wn.App. 275, 280, 374 P.3d 278 (2016), "The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution guarantee a criminal defendant the right to trial by an impartial jury. *State v. Davis*, 175 Wn.2d 287, 312, 290 P.3d 43 (2012)."

Once again in this petition Munzanreder claims that the jury that

sat on his trial was not impartial, but he cannot get past the fact that his own, highly experienced trial counsel did not excuse the juror that Munzanreder now claims tainted his panel. The decision in trial whether to keep a prospective juror or whether to dismiss a juror often is based on the trial counsel's experience, intuition, strategy, and discretion. State v. Lawler, 194 Wn.App. 275, 285, 374 P.3d 278, review denied, 186 Wn.2d 1020, 383 P.3d 1027 (2016). All jury pools are selected randomly and those jurors in that pool therefore represents a cross-section of the varied population from which they have been drawn. One aspect of a juror might suggest to the trial attorney that he or she should exercise a preemptory challenge or challenge for cause, another aspect of that same juror might counter or override this consideration. The court and all courts of review can only look at the record. A lawyer may even keep someone on the jury panel despite his voir dire responses because of his background, other personal characteristics, mannerisms, or nonverbal communication. State v. Lawler, 194 Wn.App. at 290.

2. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision to deny a change of venue. The trial court did not abuse its discretion. The is no basis under RAP 13.4(b) for this court to accept review.

"[T]the trial court's findings of impartiality are reversible only for manifest error. Id.; Rupe, 108 Wn.2d at 751." Similarly, this court reviews a trial court's denial of a change of venue motion for an abuse of

discretion. *Rupe*, I 08 Wn.2d at 750. A trial court abuses its discretion when it bases its decision on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. *Kappelman v. Lutz*, 167 Wn.2d 1, 6, 217 P.3d 286 (2009). We are reluctant to overturn a trial court's discretionary decision to deny a change of venue motion. Rupe, 108 Wn.2d at 750." (Slip at 21)

No matter how Munzanreder emphasizes or colors the facts of this issue "<u>voraciously</u> commenting online, <u>much-publicized</u> black eye; press covered Munzanreder's arrest in depth and <u>sensationally.</u> and with his hands behind his back, <u>presumably in handcuffs</u>; broadcast a <u>provocative</u> story; <u>The publicity infected</u> not only the pool of jurors." the simple <u>fact</u> remains the Court of Appeals, a neutral body, looked at the acts and actions of the trial court and cited to and used as a basis for finding the actions of the trial court long standing law.

The court went through the list of factors this court set out in <u>State v. Rupe</u>, 108 Wn.2d 734, 750, 743 P.2d 210 (1987). The Court of Appeals addressed each and

The court then went on to address the factors in <u>Rupe</u> finding that the information before the trial court was such that the decision by that court to deny the motion for change of venue was not an abuse of discretion. Munzanreder "cherry-picks" one or two factors and side-steps his obligation to request the proffered additional preemptory challenges.

This was not inexperienced trial counsel.

Mr. Dold has practices in front of the author of this opinion while that jurist sat on the bench in the Yakima County Superior Court.

Counsel knew of the trial courts offer for more strikes, strikes that were not for cause but preemptory where there was no requirement of a factual basis for removal and Munzanreder did not take those proffered strikes.

"If venire juror 51 was biased, Munzanreder had the opportunity to remove him. Munzanreder elected not to use any of his peremptory challenges to remove venire juror 51, and he did not request additional peremptory challenges. These two facts strongly suggest that even Munzanreder believed the empaneled jury was fair and impartial. We conclude the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Munzanreder's motion to change venue." (Slip at 25.) None of this portion of this opinion meets the edicts of RAP 13.4(b).

3. This court should not grant review to "determine whether the voir dire process...was sufficient..."

Voir dire was very lengthy and very extensive. The process took over five days to complete. This totality of the voir dire by the parties and the court is so extensive that is comprises nearly the entirety of RP 011215, RP 011315, RP 011415, RP 011515, RP 011615

The parties and the court were able to drill into many of the individual members of the pool because a large number of them were questioned privately. Many had requested "private" interviews and many because the court and the parties determined that a private interview would allow for more in-depth questioning and at the same time reduce the other members of the pool from exposure from other juror's knowledge about the case.

There was nearly 100% exposure in <u>State v. Rice</u>, 120 Wn.2d 549, 844 P.2d 416 (1993) and even with this lever of exposure this court easily found that a change of venue was not warranted. Rice was also a case from Yakima County. It was a heinous crime were two young men slaughtered an elderly married couple in their own homes. A case surely more "sensational" than a man shooting his wife. An occurrence that is sadly "common" in this day-in-age.

Here the parties worked together to fashion a juror questionnaire.

The final questionnaire was based primarily on the questionnaire that was submitted by Munzanreder's trial counsel. RP 010615 - 010715 – 010815.

Once again, "Munzanreder extensively argues that jurors are unable to recognize their own bias. That may be so. But here, not even Munzanreder recognized any bias."

...As previously mentioned, Munzanreder had six peremptory challenges, and there were only two venire jurors he had unsuccessfully challenged for cause who could have been empaneled as jurors.

Therefore, Munzanreder was able to have a jury empaneled composed entirely of jurors he did not consider biased. "[W]here a defendant exercises a peremptory challenge after the court denies a defense motion to excuse the juror for cause, any potential violation of the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to-an impartial jury is cured." State v. Yates, 161 Wn.2d 714, 746, 168 P.3d 359 (2007)" (Slip at 16-18)

4. The lesser included jury instruction was of no consequence in this trial.

A jury is presumed to follow the instructions of the court. In this case the jury was instructed that they were to only go to the lesser included count if they could not find the defendant guilty of the greater charge.

Then found Munzanreder guilty of the great offense so they were instructed to not even consider murder in the second degree, there can be no confusion from something that they are presumed by the law to have not considered. State v. Grisby, 97 Wn.2d 493, 509, 647 P.2d 6 (1982);

Jurors are presumed to follow instructions. State v. Kroll, 87 Wash.2d 829, 558 P.2d 173 (1976). We agree with the observation made in State v. Pepoon, 62 Wash. 635, 644, 114 P. 449 (1911): In addition, we must indulge some presumptions in favor of the integrity of the jury. It is a branch of the judiciary, and if we assume that jurors are so

quickly forgetful of the duties of citizenship as to stand continually ready to violate their oath on the slightest provocation, we must inevitably conclude that a trial by jury is a farce and our government a failure.

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